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About ten days before Christmas I became ill with some a
strange disease. I had a head ache, muscles that were sore when I
used them, pain in my large intestine, and a fever.

In my desk there were some Tylenol tablets left over from a
prescription after my hernia operation, and some penicillin
capsules left over from a prescription after the felon operation
on my finger. I started taking these one night. I slept good
that night, and the next morning the head ache and the fever were
gone, but I still had the sore muscles, and the same condition in
my large intestine.

Monday morning, the eighteenth, I woke up and found myself
lying on my bed with all my clothes on. I looked at my watch and
saw that it was six o’clock. I thought, "Oh, it’s time for the
Oregon Emergency Net." It is a net on amateur radio that comes on
at six o’clock in the evening. I thought that I must have lain
down in the afternoon and gone to sleep.

I started to get up, and found that my right leg was down
into my left pant leg along beside my left leg. I had quite a
struggle getting the right leg out and into the right pant leg.

Finally I got over to the radio, turned it on, and tuned to
the net frequency. Two California stations were on the frequency
talking with each other. Sometimes the net controls have to move

off the net frequency when someone else is already on it. I
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checked above and below the frequency, but didn’t hear a net
control. Then I heard one of the guys say that it had warmed up
quite a bit after the sun came up. I turned on the TV. A commen-
tator was saying, "There is more news from Panama now that it is
later in the morning."

Finally I realized that it was morning instead of night. I
thought, "My gosh! I‘ve lost a whole night. Where did it go?"

I faintly remembered that sometime, probably after midnight,
I was trying to do something to my left pant leg. I had my left
leg across both arms of the rocking chair. I cant imagine what I
was trying to do. I remember that at one point I decided I would
have to give up what I was attempting to do, and decided to put
my left foot on the floor, but I couldn‘t get it down. I saw that
I would have to swing my body around in front of the chair where
I would be able to get my foot down. I hopped on my right foot to
maneuver around in front, and managed to get my foot down. I
didn’t remember anything after that. I must have been completely
out of my head.

Now as I moved around the room I had a tendency to fall. It
was as though something was pulling me over. I would have to grab
the back of a chair, or anything handy; lean against the wall,
the table, just something to keep me from falling. When I turned

to the left I would tend to fall to the right.
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One time out side I fell to the ground face down when I went
around the engine house. Then again as I approached the trail
going down into the garden. Before going any farther I came back
and got a walking stick. With it I could prevent a fall.

In the afternoon I walked down the road to get some exer-
cise, and several times almost fell but caught myself with
the stick. Then coming back up the steep grade I started to put
my right foot forward, and fell right over backward. Here I
couldn’t use the stick to keep my balance. I managed to twist my
body so that I landed mostly on my right shoulder. However, my
right arm was under my body, and it took a long time to get it
out to where I could use it to help me get on my feet.

I was planning to go to Burns Friday where I had an appoin-
tment with a representative of the energy assistance program.
Thursday I went out to check the pressure in the tires of the
Bronco. Leaning over to get to the valve stem I had a tendency to
fall forward. I had to hook my left knee behind the tire to hold
myself from falling. After checking the last one, which was on
the left rear, I started to straighten up from a kneeling posi-
tion, thinking that I had my right foot in a good position to
prevent me from falling, I gave a push to get up and fell on my
face in the weeds. I caught most of the force of the fall with my

hands.
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I decided that if I wasn’t better in the morning I would not
go to town. By golly, the next morning I had no trouble getting
around. I went to town to meet my appointment.

However, for several weeks 1 was very weak. When I walked
down the road I would go slow, and coming back up it seemed as
though I could barely make it. I remembered how Mike had been
weak like that, and thought, "Am I going to get worse like he
did?2v

Well, now I am back to normal, have my strength back and am
fine. Last Thursday I went a mile down the road running most of
the way, and came back up putting plenty of energy into my steps.
I feel like a kid again; running here running there. How good it
is to feel so active.
30TH

The hawks have gotten all my chickens except two hens. Now I
know that I will need many more chickens to have enough for the
hawks to eat and have some to spare for scratching in the garden
to rid it of the insect pests. If I could get fifty setting eggs,
I could hatch them out in the fifty-egg incubator I have on
hand. I also have a brooder house with thermostat control.

I like these game chickens because they cam fly so good. It
is a sight to see them in the air. The chickens don‘t like to

walk in the snow. One day, when there was about two inches on the
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ground, I looked down into the garden to see how the hens were
doing. They were on a bare spot about two-hundred feet from the
chicken house. One of them flew up about ten feet and right over
to the chicken house. Another hen started flying. I thought she
would land at the chicken house, but about twenty feet from it
she turned and flew fifty feet to the fence at the upper side of
the garden.

After the hawk got the last rooster I began keeping the
three hens that were left locked in the chicken house until two
o‘clock. I thought that by making an appearance in the garden
once in a while I would scare away any hawks that came around.
One time when I went down in the garden, I could not find the
three hens anywhere. I looked every where even down in the wil-
lows of the draw. At three o’clock I drove down to get the mail,
and, when I got back, I looked again, but couldn’t see any sign
of them. I went for a half-hour walk down the road. When I got
back, it was time to shut them up. During the day, if I haven’t
been able to find them, they usually show up around four-fifteen
ready to go to roost. This time, when I went down, they were
still out. Soon I saw two of them walking toward the chicken
house from the patch of garden sage. I thought, "Maybe in the day

time they have been hiding in the bushes of the garden sage."
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I went back up to the dug out for half an hour. That would
give them time to go to roost. Back down again I looked into the
chicken house to see if they were all there.

One hen was missing. I was sure I had seen two of them earlier,
and I thought I had seen three, but I wasn’t sure.

I left the chicken coop door open, and after it was almost
dark I went down again. The missing hen hadn‘t shown up. A hawk
must have gotten it. Now I wait until later in the day to let the
two out. It has been cold, and snow on the ground so they don’t
stay out long. I stand near by watching for hawks, and I’m glad
they don’t stay out long.

Carl was up yesterday with a tape for me to wrap and send to
Oma. Also he wanted me to make out an order for two motorcycle
tires in the Whitney catalog. He says that Oma‘s brother has only
three game chickens left. I certainly wouldn’t be able to get
fifty setting eggs from him. I wrote a letter to Oma telling her
about the chickens, and that I wanted to get fifty setting eggs,
and thought that Sears might have some in their farm catalog. I
put the letter in with the tape.

Lately I’ve been getting a good run down the road going only
as far as the Indian-Creek turn off. Almost always there is a

strong wind blowing, and I am just barely able to keep warm.
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Well, here I am in Ontaric. I left home right arcund
seven—thirty this morning. The drive te Burns was qguite
pleasant, and net tco tiring. The gravel rcocad was in pretty
geod shape. bNorth of the @lvord-Ranch buildings., a deer ran
acvoss  the road not far ahead of me, followed by several
cthers. I had to slam on my breaks hard. but did neot have o
come to a complete stop. About thirty octhers stopped. turned
back, and then waitched as I went by. I kept my eve on them
in case any decided te cross in front of me. Sure  encugh,
one  jumped the fence and dashed across. By that time I was
going slow encugh to have stopped in time 1T any more ivied
to cross.

A little fTarther on I saw a dozen antelope off to the
left of the reoad. They didn't seem to he afraid, but just
stood there watching as I went bvy.

I didn't meet any vehicles on the gravel rocad. On the
Cold-Spring Gummit there had been a light sprinkling of
snew, and I was wondering 1t there might be patches of black
ice somewhere between there and Burns. However, aftter 1
started down the grade on the cther side the pavement was
dry, and 1t was that way all the way toc Burns.

i got inte Burns at ten fteo teny parked near the Fost
Office; went ing asked the girl at the counter if they had
any change—cof—address cards. SBhe said, "You'll find them in
that rvrack over there.” pointing toward the front of the
lobby. I got ten cards and tock thes cover to the givl and

asked, "How much for ten cards®?
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She said, “"There is no charge for them. Do vou  want
stamps on them?"

I said, "Me. Thank you. I have stamps.”

I gassed up at the Chevron Station, and dreve (o the
bank where 1 depeosited scme checks into my savings acocount.
Then headed for Ontaric. The traffic was light. and I mads
good time; was in the motel by twelve-thirty

After getting all my stuff inside, and sating a lunch
of cold-het cakes, I drove cover fo the dermatologist's place
e Fifth Avenue,. mainly to give them my change of address,
and alsc to find out when 1 could get an appointment to see
Dr. Thornteldt.

A%t the counter I gave the girl ay new address. She
asked, "Do vou have a new phone number .

I said, "No. It's the same. I haven't moved.”

she =said, "I don’t have yeour Sccial-Security number. Do
you  have yvour card with you?" I got sy card ocut and handed
it to her. She entered the number intc the computer.

I said, "It's bheen nearly six months since T saw  the
doctor last. I was te be notified the date of an appeointment
for me at the end of six months. Can yvou now let me know
when that appointment will be?”

She said, "If vou can wait a few minutes, the docior
will see vou today.” I teld her that I certainly could wait.
Spon a nurse took me into an examination voom, where 1

waited for Dr. Thornfeldt.
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When he came in he shock my hand as he usually does,
and sald, "How are vou James?” Then asked about the snow oo
the Steens. He is going to take part in the Steens—Mountain
run this summer.

I said, "Yeou're geoing to take it easy this time; aren’t
yoeu. "  The reascon I menticoned this was that he had run in a2
twenty-six mile marathon last year and nearly collapsed at
the end.

He said, "This will be my last year vurming. 1'm begin-
ning to feel 1t in my knees.”

He examined the tumovs on my face and forehead. One o
the right of my nose was very conspicucus, and 1t was hard.
He had frozen 1% twice, but it was stil1ll there. I had been
applying the prescription cream that was supposed to destroy
precancerocus  growthe  that couldn't bheen ssen or felt. I
think it had scome effect on this tumcr because vesterday I
noticed a dark ring was showing up arcund 1t. He =aid, "I
treated 1t with nitrogen gas twice already, it should have
fallen off. 1'11 deo a shave biopsy on 1t now. He’ll go  into
the ocperating recom, and get at 1t."

I lay on the operating pad. and he started toc work. I
heard him say. "The needle—" probably toc the nurse. 1 felt
the needle just a little. I guess he cuts the tumor away hit
by bBit. That's why it's called a shave biopsy.

I could feel him working on it, but there was ne pain.
The dMNevocain worked fast. Finally he =said, "It locks good.

It's sclid, and not cancercus.®
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I said, "That's good.” I had been wondering about  the
thing because freezing i1t hadn’'t worked.

He checked other tumors. and on the left side of my
noese  near the end he pressed hard and sald, "How long has
this been here?®

I had never noticed anything in that leocation. I said,
"1 didn't know anvything was thers.”

He s=sald, "I don‘t like 1t. It’s a Basic Lell Cancer.
111 have tc dig that cut.®

Well, he worked on it longer than he did on the First
one . I didn't feel anvthing while he was cutting on it. He
kept pressing hard on 1t all the time. He finished up by
using nitrogen gas on 1t. Then he used the gas on several
other tumors:— 1in front of my right ear, on @y forehesad,
behind beth ears, in my left sar, and below my right eve.

Hhen he was through, he said, "The nurse will give vou
a paper with instructicns on how to treat them at home. Have
the girl at the desk make an appointeent three weeks from
THEW . If they're healed up by then., call on the phone and
cancel the appointment. There will be some drainage for a
while.®

The nurse did scmething to the wounds. I could only
surmise that she was cleaning them. She itreated the one
below the right cheek bone first. Then put a square band aid
aver 1it. Bhe put a small-round-band aid over the ons on @y

S8 .
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Then she read the instruction for home care to me. and
gave me a package of round-band aids, and ancther package of
large—sguare—band aids. In esach package she included a2 bunch
of E-tips, and a sample tube of Folysporin. Then handed me
the sheet of instructions, and another paper with a list of
the names of the tumors he had treated, and the method of
treatment.

n my way cut the girl at the recepticn window gave ne
a card with an appointment for March 22 at 1€ p.m..

I was mighty pleased toc get such guick service. By now
the wound on oy nose was becoming painful. I had been think-
ing of stopping at Albertsons to get some groceries for a
meal in my room this evening, but I dreoeve straight back o
the motel.

Well, bkack here I lay down, actually wishing I had =
pain pill. I had no desire for feood. I must have slept =2
little. After while 1 thought about the time, and, loaking
at my watch, saw that it was getting late in the afternoon,
gespecially by Ontariec time. I wmanted to go toc the Social-
Security Office to tell thesm about my change of address, and
to find cut what the premium was on my Medicare insurance. I
didn‘t know the address, and thewght of asking the manager
of the motel. However I found a phone bhook in a2 diawer, and
gt the address cut of 1t, 2040 B. W. 4th Ave. I
didn’t know which way the numbers van on the avenue. but,

hecause 1 knew wmhich way 1t was to The ¥King's Table, I
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looked up its address. It was a block farther down on the
other side of the avenue.

It is difficult to see the street numbers while driv—
ing. but., when I came to the King's Table I knew I had
passed the number. I drove inte the parking let there think-
ing I weoeuld tuwn arcund and ge back up 4th Avenus o the
Social-Security Office. I thought, "Hell, it's too late o
get in there now, sc 1'1l go in here and get scmething o

eat.” The paliln in ay nose had all gone.

I had toc wailt a while at the cash register. The girl
was doing other work while waiting for customers. When she
finally came, I said, "They sure kesp vou busy. Don't they?®

Bhe said, "They sure do.” Then said, "Do you have a
senicr bock.®

I didn’'t have one and tcld her sc. She charged me the
regular price which seemed strange. because in years passed
they charged a senior a dollar less. You just had to  lock
cld. I paid the five dollars and fifty cents. Bhe gave mg  a
card for winming a prize, and showed me how to scraich  the
silver colored spots to find cut 1f vou had wom.

I taold her that the twe band aids on my face were fram
Bicpsies that Ur. Thornfeldt had done. 1 said, "I was lucky
te get it done ftoday without an appointment.”

She said, "He's geoed all right. My grandmother has  had
Inte of these growths frozen off with nitrogen gas. By

mother alsc had one taken off. "
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I asked her where the Sccial-Securiiy Office was. She
said, "Right across the street, up a2 ways. It's net sasy to
see. there’s a lot of shops together there. Orne of them is
the B & B. You can see that sign easy.”

I went down the line and put two plates on a tray with
a knife , fork and a teaspoon. I noticed that the plates
were smaller than they used to be. On one plate I put potato
salad, & gelatin salad mixed with a cream whip and some
chunks of fruit. On the cther plate I put string beans,
mashed poitatoes with brown gravy, and a slice of ham, then
goet a glass of root beer.

From the table where I sat I could see most of  the
dining arex. I was amared that most of the peocple were
seniors. Mot far from me were sSix people wheoe could have been
of one fTamily or a2t least close friends. One sat with his
head hunched forward a little. He appeared quite cld. They
all geot up te leave. The old man seemed to have difficulty
getting up. Two pecple next to him veached ocut to help him.
He =aid, "I'm all vight. I can make 1t." Extending from the
stump of his right arm was a hook. He used this against the
table to help himself up. His lseft arm was all right.

When he started walking he was slow, and limped heavily
with his rvight leg. and leaned forward from the waist. The
others were scon far ahead of him. I thought, "Maybe he's
not sc cld. He leocks old from having gone through a  rough

ordeal.”

,,,,,
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I ate mest of the food except the mashed potatces which
were too salty. From the dessert section I get a piece of
chocolate cake with ice cream.

When I finished eating I scratched the silver—colored
=pots  on the card, and saw that I was not a2 wirnner. There
was a place te put your name and address. You were supposed
tee T1ill 1% out, and put i1t in a box. There would be a lot—
tery drawing for a prize. I didn't bother to do that, be-—
cause it would be a long time before I ever ate there again.

From there I drove to Albertson’'s,. and leocked for a
sunscreen lotion called Bleck Out. I had intended toc bring
the letien I had at home, but I didn't get inte the Bronco.
One of the girls stocking the shelves showed me the Pre Sun
letion number 29. She said., "That would be stronger  than
Block Out 28.

I =aid, "Yes, but I need scmething that will be compat—
ible with a prescription cintment that I am using on @y
faca.”

She said, "It's hard for us to get many different makes
ef sunscreen.”

I get a box of A11 Bran,: and drove back to the motel.
Inside I turned the TV set te chamnel six to get the news,
mainly Tor the weather forecast. I vead a story that 1
brought with me.

Later in the evening I wroite wuntil eleven—thirty,

shaved and went fo bed.
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7th

I was up at seven-thirty, Ontaric time, ate some 611
Bran, and a cold-hot cake, then lcaded my stuff intc the
Bronco  and headed for the eye clinic. It was eight—forty—
five when I got there. I went inside and at the reception
window and 1 said to the girl, "I'm James Weston. I believe
I have an appocintment for nine o'cleck.®

She said, "Yes. You do.”

I said, "I have a new address. Shall 1 give it to vyou
now?

She saild, "¥Yes. I'11 put it in the computer.®

After 1 gave her the address she asked me, "Do vou have
the same phone number?”

I said, "Yes. I haven't moved, but they've changed my
addres=s."

She =said, "Al1ll right, James. Have a seat. It will bhe a
fern minutes.”

I sat down in the waiting room. Shortly a nurse called
my name, and led me intc an eye—examination rocm: had me sit
in  the chailr where all the instruments were. 1 said, "This
i1s the same as the last time I was here.®

"¥Yes." she savys, "Things don't change auch.”

She loocked threugh my Tile, then said, "You are B4. Did
someone come with you?”

I said, "Mo. I came by myself.”

She said, "That's a long way to drive. Do vyou live

3Rk

alone?
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I said, "Yes. I den't mind living alone. I have a lct
of Ham friends I ftalk with every day on the radic."

Concerning the bpand aids on my face, I told her how
lucky I was to get te see Dr. Thornfeldt the day before, and
how he had remcved the tumors.

She started te cperate the gadgets for checking my
eyes, but one machine was tooc much for her. She punched
buttons, but couldn’t get the results she wanted. She said,
"I've been here only a few days. I'11 get Chuck to come in
and show me.”

She went off to ancther examination room. I could see
her waiting toc speak to someone, but I couldn't see the
cthers in that room. I could hear cne of the deoctors telling
arn cld lady what tc do about her eve when she got home. She
had had a cataract cperation. He seemed to be having a hard
time making her understand about things. He said, "You can
bend youwr head, but don't bend over to pick up anything off
the floor.®

Her voice was so low I couldn®t hear what she said, but
he said, "Don't worry about that. It is normal.®

After guite a long wait, Chuck came in. He finished
making all the checks on my eves. Dr. Pitts came in and
reviewed the findings, then he measuwred the pressure in  my
eyYesS.

He said, "To make sure there will be ne damage to the
eptic nerve, vyou sheuld continue taking the Timoptic eve

drops.”™
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He said, "There's no change in the prescription for

£

glasses." He gave me a prescription for the evye drops.

I went cut fc the reception window. The charge was for
an office visit, $40.17.

From there I crossed SW 4th Ave. and drove sast keeping
my eves cpen for the B&H sign. It was sasv toc see. I turned
in at the corner and parked, then walked a2 short distance
nest to the Secial Security OFfice.

The girl at the counter was talking on the phone. When
she hung up. she asked i¥ she could help me. I tocld her
about my change of address, and about needing information on
the premium of my Medicare insurance. She said, "I cant give
it to you vight now, but I will get it from the computer and
mail 1t out to yvou today." She asked if my phone number had
changed.

I said, "Ne. It's the same, 303-495-2897.7 I thought,
That's not right. For some unaccountable reasen I couldn'id
remember the last digest. I said, "It's 2290." dfter I left
and was driving ocut of Ontaric, I remembered the 495-22%4.

When I had first started learning the nusbher, 1 would
check 1t in my mind by visualizing a 4 at the heginning. and
a 4 at the end. That seemed toc make 1t easier to repember.
Aftter learning 1t, the number came tc me automatically. I
was dumbfounded at this experience. Like the guy said, when
scaecne told him his memory was getting bad.

He =said, "My memory isn't getting bad. My forgetter is

getting better.”
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When I baked biscuits yesterday and when I backed bread
the other day. a rank cdor developed. I thocught it might be
from the mixture of cil and lecithin that 1 was using for a
nen-stick sclation. Tonight I thought, "Maybe it's the new
thermostat contrel.” I tuwned on the oven without baking
anything. The order came on strong. Maybe 1 should have
washed the element before I installed it.

We only had .03 inches of rain last night. The greund
was dry this morning. The high yvesterday was 47, and the low
last night was 34. It was 38 at eight o'clack this morning.

On my way to Fields to get the UFPS package, 1 stopped
at Dora’'s and Fat's to see it they wanted anything at the
store. Dora wanted some topping rnuts for the ice cream she
would serve at her birthday party tomeorrow. Her birthday is
teday, but Jim and Stella cant come wuntil tomorvow. Pat
wanted a half gallon of milk.

Hhen 1 entered the store Ralph came in at the same time
I did. I didn't recognize him, and wondered who he was
because he seemed to know me. He introduced me to  the new
store cwners, Don and his wife. Don was walting on a woman.
I had tcld Ralph that I had come for a package. He said tco
Don, "He's leoocking for a package.”

Don was behind the Post Office counter. He reached down
and goet two packages, cone large and one small. The large one
contained the wocd lathe that Mike had ordered last vear.

Ralph said, "Held the door open, and I'11 carvy  this

ocut to yvour pickup.”
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Saturday evening just after seven, I left for a walk down
the hill. I went only as far as the Indian Creek turnoff, because
I wanted to be sure to get back in time for the detective show,
Comish, at eight o’clock. When I got back as far as the turn at
the foot of the last steep grade, I suddenly started to fall over
backward. I’m at a loss to know why, because I had been feeling
confident of my balance. It may have been that when I moved ny
left foot forward, a rock rolled under my foot causing me to tip
backward. I stepped back as fast as I could to keep my feet under
me, but not fast enough. I fell and as I fell I twisted slightly
sideways, and came down partly on my right shoulder and arm, and
back. My cap and glass fell off.

I rolled over onto my stomach to get my arm out from under
me, then reached out and got my cap and glasses, and put them on.
I looked at my watch and saw that it was seven-thirty. I got up
on my Kknees and elbows, then tried to move my feet forward under
me while I pushed against the ground with my hands to move my
body onto my feet. I couldn’t get my feet forward far enough.
They would slide back backward on the loose gravel.

This was a time I wished I had my cane with me. I struggled
for a spell without success. There wasn’t any sagebrush handy
that I could hang onto to keep my balance. I thought of a large

bunch of tall sagebrush farther up the road.
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I crawled up the wheel track, inching on my elbows and
knees. I didn’t have enough'strength to walk on my hands and
knees. My arms would tire quickly when I tried it.

After a time that seemed forever, I came to the clump of
sagebrush. Daylight was fading, but the moon was still high, al-
most at first quarter. I rolled over and pushed up to a sitting
position near the sagebrush. Hanging to the sagebrush I tried to
stand up, but my feet would slide forward. I couldn’t get them
under me. I heard a cow go by above me on the side hill.

I finally decided I was wasting my time. I started inching
my way up the wheel track. I used the same method as before, but
soon gave up that method because my knees and elbows were getting
sore. I rolled over onto my back, and using my feet, I would push
first one shoulder forward and then the other. How I wished T
could get up onto my feet. Time passed. The stars came out. I
moved. I rested, and inched ahead again.

I remembered how years ago, when I was standing out at the
point at night, I would sometimes see the headlights of a car
coming up the road. I thought it was unlikely now, because no one
every comes up here at night anymore. I half wished to see one
now, but then thought of how embarrassed I would be for someone

to find me lying in the road.
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I thought of the story, "West Wind to Hawaii" where natives
in the region near Tahiti left in a double canoe, (two canoes
held together by two beams). It had two masts, one near the
rear of one canoe and the other near the front of the other ca-
noe. The name of the double canoe was, "Wait For The West Wind."

I thought of all the struggles they had to get to Hawaii. I
thought, "Well, they had wind to help them along, but I cant put
a sail up to help me up this hill."

Hawaili was under the Seven Little Eyes, the Pleiades. I
couldn’t see them. Maybe they were too far south. The bird with
the long neck, the Big Dipper, was overhead and its beak was
pointing to the North Star. The astronomers on the double canoe
saw it for the first time, and were amazed that it didn’t move
like the other stars. They learned to use it for navigation.

I thought of how lucky I was that it was a calm, clear, and
warm night, The moon went down and the only light was from the
stars.

As I neared the top I decided that the right-hand-wheel
track would better to follow. To get there I rolled over and
over. When I got over there, I thought that the hill being less
steep it might be easier to stand up. I tried to stand up, but my
feet slid back on the loose gravel. I fell to my elbows and

knees.
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1 started inching my way on my elbows and knees, but ny
knees and elbows were getting sore. I turned onto my back, and as
before, using my feet, I pushed first one shoulder forward, and
then the other. I knew that there was some sagebrush at the foot
of the power pole at the top of the grade. After what seemed a
long time, while I watched the Big Dipper and other stars change
position, I reached the pole.

The sagebrush wasn’t as tall as I hoped it would be. I tried
to stand up hanging onto the sagebrush for balance, but, as be-
fore, my feet slid back, and I went down onto my hands and knees.
I tried several times, then decided to crawl over to the old
Dodge pickup. In the starlight the chrome trim on it showed up
bright. There was another choice I might make. I could go down
the road toward the dugout to where tall sagebrush grew along the
left side of the road, but I dismissed that idea because of my
experience hours before.

I thought that out toward the Dodge there was a space of
softer ground, and I could visualize moving along on my hands and
knees. However, there was no soft ground. I lay on my back and
pushed first one shoulder forward, and then the other. Here the
ground was level, and I started rolling over and over. It was the
fastest way to travel. As I neared the Dodge, I remembered that

there were things between me and the Dodge close up to it, some
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short pieces of two-by-fours, the old gas tank from the sixty-
four pickup, and a growth of sagebrush. I chose to head for the
right-hand side. It was too dark to see things clearly.

I was quite close before I made out the gas tank. The sage-
brush showed dark to the right of it. When I got there I pulled
myself up on top of some of the sagebrush. It held my chest a
little off the ground. I got my left arm on top of the gas tank,
then held onto the taller sagebrush with my right hand. I raised
up and got my feet under me. So, I was standing up, but the bump-
er was too far away for me to reach it. If I leaned forward to
reach it, I was sure I would fall. I tried to move my left foot
forward, but sagebrush was in the way. I couldn’t raise my foot
up high enough to step over it.

I got back down with my left arm on the gas tank, and, still
hanging onto the sagebrush for balance, I was able to move ny
left foot forward, and then the right foot. I stood up again. I
could see that I was closer to the bumper. I took a chance and
reached out my hand and grabbed the bumper. I thought, "Boy! At
last I'm on nmy feet."

I stood there a while trying to see what was the best way to
walk out to the road. I thought that if I tried to walk out the

way I had crawled in, I would probably stumble on the sagebrush.
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I was almost sure that behind the bumper to the left side there
were no obstructions. I knew that there were a couple of long
two-by-fours in the back of the pickup, I could see them clearly
in the starlight. I pulled one out. It had a broken end, and was
about five feet long. Now I used it as a probe to check the
ground ahead of me.

By using it I could tell if there was anything in the way,
and I found that the way was clear all the way to the to the
road. At the road I got into the left-hand-wheel track, and went
on down toward the dugout. I continued to use the two-by the sane
way to make sure there were no obstructions, and to help me keep
my balance.

What a relief to get inside. It was twelve-thirty. I had
been five hours coming from the place where I fell. I fixed
something to eat and went to bed. My back was lame. My Kknees,
elbows, and the back of my head were sore. The muscles in the
front of my neck were lame from lifting my head when I was lying
on my back.
l16th

The only places that are still sore are the lower part of ny
back, and my hip joints. I think of how lucky I was that I hadn’t
fallen at the power-line crossing where I usually turn around.

From there it would have taken me twice as long to get to the
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dugout, probably even longer. It would have been daylight by the
time I got to the point.
16th

Today the pipeline came apart up the draw. I went up there
and repaired it. I had to sit on the ground to work on it. I had
no trouble getting to my feet. There was no gravel for my feet to
slide on, and I stood right up. I had my cane with me just in
case.

Now when I go for a walk down the hill, I take my cane with

me, but I haven’t found any need for it.
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He looked in some literature and said, "They don’t have it
anymore. They have a Nodal 40 with a 80 MB hard disk. I’m not in
sales now. I’ll have a salesman call you later."

A salesman called later. He said he was installing the 5.25"
drive. He would be off Friday, and would be back Monday. I told
him to let me know what the price was when he got it ready and I
would send him a check.

I have been working on the pipeline getting it buried, and
have it buried across the draw now.

I have been picking cherries and apples. The apples are
green and small, but they make good apple sauce. I have three
pint cartons of pitted cherries on hand, and a pot of apple
sauce.

Last week 6,000 acres of brush land burned. I could see it
from here. At first the smoke boiled up in a big cloud over the
ridge between here and Pike Creek where it started. The wind was
from the east, but it suddenly switched and came from the west.
It burned down eight power poles, and crossed the road. The wind
was gusting to about fifty miles and hour.

The power went off at six o’clock. I had turned on the
transceiver and was getting ready to check into the Oregon Emer-
gency Net. It came on at six a.m. My transceiver was still on
and the sound from it woke me up. I couldn’t believe they had put
new power poles up so soon.

The phone lines are on the power poles. They had to bring a

crew from Bend to put the lines back up. I was ocut of phone ser-



July, 1992 4

vice for four days. Late Tuesday afternoon John Wilson called ne,
and wanted to know if I could hear him all right, and if the
phone had a good ring. I told him I could hear him all right, and
that the phone had a good ring, but that there was a lot of noise
on the line. He said, "Yes, I know that. When the phone rings,
just let it ring.®

It rang several times, then for a long time it didn‘t ring.
Later I picked up the receiver, and there was a dial tone. T
called Hair. Carl answered. I said, "I guess John Wilson got the
phone fixed. I can hear you good.™"

He said, "The phone here Jjust sort of ting a lings. It

doesn’t make a good ring."

Saturday George called in the morning. He said, "Well,
you’ve got your phone working." We talked for about twenty
minutes.

Early this morning the phone rang, I picked up the receiver,
and said, "Hello." No one answered. It sounded as if a receiver
was off the hook. This has happened lots of times, and I wWon-
dered who would call and not answer. I thought, "Maybe somebody
was calling to see if I was home, but didn’t want me to know who
it was."

Several times during the day I lifted the receiver, There
was no dial tone, just the sound of a receiver off the hook.

7th
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Around twelve o’clock the UPS man brought a package with the
WordStar 7 disks to replace the ones I couldn’t install.

I mailed the letter to Global Computer Supplies. I had hoped
that I would hear from Computerland before mail time so I could
send a check to them and it would get there in time for them to
ship the computer Friday. About four-thirty Jason called saying
that the computer was ready. The price was $2150, that included
the monitor. I said, "I don’t need a monitor. I‘ll use the one I
have for with the Modal 30."

He said, "I’1ll take the price of the monitor off. That will
bring it to $1750."

I said, "How much are the shipping charges?%

He said, "Around %17 or $25.%

I said, "I’1ll send you a check for $1775.

"He said, "If the shipping charges are less I’11l send you a
rebate. Send the letter in care of Jason.®

I thought I would get the check ready to mail and drive town
to the mailbox before the mailman went back to Princeton. Then I
thought, "This will be a good time to go to Burns. Tomorrow I can
leave early and mail the letter at the Post Office. It will have
a better chance of getting to Boise Thursday."

8th
I got up this morning at four o’clock, and left here at

four-forty-five. It was cold enough to have the heater on. North

of the Alvord Ranch a lone deer crossed the road in front of me.
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I slowed down, but no others crossed the road. Farther on some
cows were standing in the road, and some were feeding in the
barrow pit. There were lots of rabbits, and I'm sure I ran over
some. After I passed Mann Lake I drove without lights. I turned
them on when I got to the highway. I left them on until I reached
the Cold Spring Summit.

I stopped at the tree and put some 0ld magazines into the
trash can. There was no work being done in the construction-work
area between Princeton and the Skinner place, so I wasn’t held up
there.

I got into Burns before seven o’clock, posted the letter at
the Post Office. Then went to the Ford garage to see about get-
ting a lube job done. They weren’t open yet. I went to the Safe-
way store and bought $107.10 worth of groceries. I had been
looking for a six-inch skillet for a long time, and hadn’t been
able to find one, so I bought the smallest one in stock, a ten
inch er.

I took my blood pressure at seven-thirty. It was 140/69. My
heart rate was 41.

From there I went to the Home and Ranch Supply, and got sone
hose washers and a bottle of Mapp Gas. Then drove to Les Schwabs,
and had my wheels rotated. Then to the Ford garage, and got an
appointment for a lube job at ten o’clock.

Then I went to the bank and deposited the two checks $530.

Next to the service station for gas. Then to Safeway to get the
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prescription for eye drops filled. While I was waiting I took my
blood pressure, 127/63. Heart-beat rate 48.

I still had a long time to wait for the lube Jjob to be
finished. It was only nine-thirty. I went to the Desert Sage. At
the counter I could see a cream pie in a case. I ordered a piece
of it and a cup of coffee. The pie was very good-lemon cream.

I drove over to the garage and parked the pickup inside next
to the lube station. I took everything out of the cab and put it
into the back. That was so the man could clean the cab with
nothing in the way.

I walked up the street and back down. Then sat in the lobby
of the garage and read a magazine. Finally the 1lube man came
through and told me the pickup was ready. I went up to the
counter, paid the bill, and headed for home.

The road-construction work held me up for about fifteen
minutes. It was eleven-forty-five when I stopped at the tree. I
shut off the motor and opened the windows wide. The wind blew
through from the west which made it cool enough without the air
conditioning. I made a cup of coffee, ate some of the Swiss Maid
pudding snack, and some of the hotcakes. I opened a carton of
cottage cheese for a helping of that. I got out and walked around
the pickup several times.

I staid at the tree about twenty minutes, because I knew
that I would have to wait for the mailman. When I was ready to

leave, I turned on the air conditioning, and closed the windows.
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Coming down the gravel road I only met seven vehicles coming
toward me. The wind was blowing from the west, so it blew the
dust from the passing vehicles quickly off the road.

At the mailbox I waited half an hour for the mailman. There
was no mail for me, but there was a tape from Oma, and a letter
from the game commission for Carl. I drove on down to his place.
He was working on his pickup. He had two batteries hooked up in
parallel. He said, "I hooked up two batteries, because I thought
maybe the one battery alone didn’t have enough juice to run the
starter."

I stood leaning over the motor to listen for any click of
the solenoid. When he turned the key to start, I didn’t hear any
click of the solenoid, but I did hear a strange click near the
fire wall. I still encouraged him to get the piEEEE to Burns and
have a mechanic work on it there. I said, "They might be able to
find the trouble with their diagnostic equipment.[”‘w

When I got wup here, and got all the stuff unloaded and
stored away, I lay down for a rest.

Without the computer, time ways heavy, so to pass the time I
read a lot. This evening I went up the pipeline and worked about
an hour at getting it buried.
10th

Today F was on pins and needles waitiﬁg fot the UPS to show

up with the éﬁﬁputer. Twelvé o’clock went by, and he didn’t come.
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One time Bill told me he would come down this way 1f there was

something to be delivered, so I kidded myself that it might come

tomorrow. Maybe they don’t deliver down here on weekends anymore.
I picked cherries and apples this evening, and worked on the

pipe line. Later I made apple sauce, and pitted the cherries.

11lth

No computer today. The frustration is getting me down. It
rained today, bringing .34" of precipitation. I didn’t work on
the pipeline.
12th

No computer today. I wonder if my check got lost in the
mail. Maybe it won’t come Monday.
13th

There’s something I haven’t mentioned. The trap under the
sink sprung a leak around the first of July. I took the trap out.
The leak was where I had sealed it before. There were several
small holes, and one about a quarter of an inch in diameter. I
had sealed it with epoxy and put a piece of leather on top of the
epoxy, and wrapped electric tape around the pipe over the epoxy
to help hold it in place. Now it was leaking through the patch.

I cleaned everything off the trap, and applied new epoxy.
after it had dried for twelve hours, I wrapped electrical tape
arcund it, and on top of the tape wound nylon string. I installed
the trap. Then filled a dishpan with water, and dumped it into

the sink. Water leaked through the patch.
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I was reluctent to take the trap out again, because they
don’t have any more of this size on the market, and no new wash-
ers to go with them. However, I took the trap out. I removed the
string and tape. The epoxe looked pretty good, especialy where
the hole was. I filled the trap with water, and saw that the leak
was in an area above the hole. There were several tiny cracks
that I hadn’t noticed before. I dried the trap and applied epoxe
over the cracks, and over the epoxe that looked good thinking to
make 1t stronger. I left it to set over night. The next morning
there appeared to be no leaks, so I installed it.

Now, when I dumped a bunch of water into the sink, water
came out almost in a stream from a plaace high up in the back
of the trap. It didn’t leak when there wasn’t much water in the
sink. It seemed to take a bit of preasure to push water through
whatever tiny crack that was there. The leak was behind the trap
where I couldn’t see it. I used a mirror, but still couldn‘t see
it.

I looked on the various shelves to see if I had some kind of
glue that might stop the leak. I found a can of gas-tank sealer.
Directions on the can were neaarly obliterated, but a warning
said, "Dangerous fumes. Use in a well-ventilated area, and avoid
breathing the fumes. Keep away from any open flame.®

I found a small paint brush, one used for water colors. The
liguid in the can was almost clear. I surmised the active ingre-
dients had settled tc the bottom, and I used a screwdriver to

stir it up. There didn’t seem to be much stuff in the bottom,

10
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but after a bit of stirring the liguid turned a yellow color. I
dipped the brush in, and reached around behind, and tried to
brush the stuff onto the place where I thought the hole was. Some
of the liquid ran down and dripped off the trap. In the places
that I could see, it would dry quickly, and a yellow coating be-
gan to appear. I hoped the stuff would seal the crack.

I let it dry over night. I gave it the water test. There was
still a small leak. I thought I would have to give up, and put a
small bucket under the leak. I used the bathroom sink to wash any
dishes.

The next day I went to town. When I got home, I looked into
the bucket. It was almost dry. I thought that dirt may have
plugged the leak. But I haven’t run much water in the sink.

The next morning I decided to take the trap out and put
more epoxe on the place that was leaking. When I took the trap
off it was full of water. I was dumbfounded. I thought the water
would have all leaked out. I dumped out the water and dried off
the trap, then gave it a good coating of epoxe over all the
places where there might be a leak. I felt more confident of suc-
cess. I thought, "Maybe, when the gas-tank sealer had time to dry

more, it sealed the leak.®

11
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At three o’clock I installed the trap again. When I gave it
the water test, there wasn’t a leak anywhere. What a relief to
be able to wash dishes in the sink!

Well the computer didn’t come. I called Computerland, and
asked for Jason. The girl said something, but I could hardly hear
her. I said, "I can hardly hear you. Would you repeat that
please?®

Finally I made out,"Do you want to wait, or have him call
you back?"

I said, "How long will it be?"®

She said she didn’t know. I told her to have him call me
back. He never called. I started to call them again, but the
Alvord Ranch was on the line. I kept trying until four o’clock
which was five o’clock Idaho time. The Alvord Ranch was still on
the line, so I thought, "Maybe Jason called and got a busy sign-
al.”

After the sun went behind the mountain, I went up and worked
on the pipeline. I didn’t make much progress, and worked only
forty-five minutes. The pick work was much harder, because there
was heavy-tough sod to dig up. I tired sooner than usual.
14th

By twelve-thirty the computer hadn’t arrived. Jason had told
me he would ship the computer as soon as he got my check. I was
getting worried about the check, and wondered if it had gotten

lost in the mail. At one o’clock I called Computerland. A girl

12
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answered. I gave her my name, and asked if they had gotten my
check. "I mailed it from Burns last Wednesday.

She said, "I wouldn’t know. I’11 connect you to the account-
ing office."®

I asked the girl at the accounting office if she could help
me. I gave her my name, and asked if my check had been received.
She said, "How much was the check for?®

I said, "$1775.%

She said, "I’11l look at the files.®

After a wait she said, "No. It’s not in the books. Would you
like to talk to Jason?"

I said, "Yes. I would."®

She said, "I’ll connect you to the main store. Ask for Ja-
son."

I heard the phone ring. Someone picked up the receiver,, and
said, "Hello." I was surprised, because, usually when they con-

nect me to another department, I don’t hear a phone ring. I
thought that the Alvord Ranch was on the line.

I said, "Is this the main store?®

"Yes., It is.®

"I would like to speak to Jason.®

"This is Jason. May I help you?"

"Oh! This is James Weston. How’s the computer? Is it ready

to ship?®

13
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He said, "It isn’t ready yet. We are installing the two
disks."

"Oh, I thought you had them in already."

"The technicians weren’t here, so we were delayed. Are you
in a hurry for the computer?®

I said, "I’ve been shut down for nearly a month. It was some
time before I discovered I needed a new computer.®

He said, "I didn‘t know that. We are working on it now.®

I said, "The accounting department said that my check wasn’t

in the Dbooks.*®

"T have your check here.®

"I'm glad to here that. I’d like to get the computer as soon
as possible.®

"We will ship it soon.®

I couldn’t believe my ears. A week ago he had told me it was
ready to ship as soon he got my check. Now I suppose it will be a
couple more days before it gets here.

Ellis stopped in Jjust in time to check into the Oregon
Emergency Net. When I checked in I said, "K72ZYP with K7HWZ in the
shack."

I dished up some ice cream for him. He said, "You make good
ice cream.”

I said, "I sure do. I make it out of all natural ingredi-
ents." He didn’t stay long. He is going to camp up in Rock-House

Canyon tonight.

14
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Carl Thomas came up this evening. He wanted me to look at a
letter he got from the bank. He thought it might be about
something that would reguire him to go to the bank. It was about
a money certificate. It would be automatically renewed. He didn’t
have do anything about it.

He said that Carl Hair had come over and pushed his Luv
pickup to get it started. It started and ran good. He drove it
across the road and up a side road, turned it around, and left it
facing down hill, so he could coast down and start it in the
morning. He will drive to Burns tomorrow to see if he can get the
starter fixed. He thought he might have to stay over night with
Ellis.
15th

The computer didn’t come. If it doesn’t come tomorrow I’11
call Computerland!and get hold of Joel, and say, "I think Jason
needs help. He seems be having trouble getting the computer
shipped.®

Last night I forgot to go up and work on the pipeline. I’ve
decided to do double work this evening.

I talked with Ellis on the radio tonight. He said that Carl
hadn’t shown up there yet. Ellis said he would give me a call if
he does.

Ellis said he went over the summit of Rock-House-Canyon

Road. It is a rough-rocky road.

15
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Right around six o’clock Clif Clark appeared outside with
his family--grandpa, sons, and grandsons. He is the one that left
a fold-up trailer with a broken axle here last year. He was going
to come back and get it in September. He said he would get the
drag saw too. He had already paid for it.

They interrupted my plans to spend double time on the pipe-
line. But I did get in half an hour. I made better progress than
I thought I would. The sod wasn’t as thick as it had been.
16th

I was quite confident that the computer would come today.

Clif Clark had said that he would pull the drag saw out into
the road. My pickup was parked in the way. At eleven o’clock I
went out and backed the pickup down passed the door of the door
of the dugout. I thought, "Well, now the UPS man can come closer
to the door with the computer.

I heard him coming, and opened the door before he got there.
He had a package, but it wasn’t the computer. It was Jjust the
keyboard. I said, "Where’s the computer?*®.

He said, "It didn’t come. It must have gotten separated.®

I said, "It’s been a long time."™ He 1looked a little glum.
Later I wondered if he thought I blamed the UPS.

Now I”11 have to spend another day waiting. I feel like a
kid waiting for Christmas. I cant wait. I’ve been reading a lot

to pass the time. I’m thankful for the many authors who can write

16
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with such skill and force that it holds my attention and keeps my
adrenaline flowing. I am astonished at how fast the time goes by
when I'nm reading.

SUPPLEMENT for July 6:-

One time, when I was on éhe phone talking with a girl at
WordStar International about the trouble I was having installing
WordStar 7, a family came to the door. I told them to come on in.
They did. At one point in my talk with the girl, she said, "I1’'11
get someone else. I’11 call you back.¥®

This gave me a chance to see who my visitors were. They
were a father and his wife, a son and his wife and three kids,
one girl about three, a boy about ten, and a boy about eighteen.
They were from Reedsport. Dan Wagner was the older man. He said
that he had been up here about sixteen years ago. He introduced
me to the rest of the family.

The phone rang. The girl wanted me to have my phone at the
computer, and she would tell me what to do. I soon saw that she
was having me go through the installment process. I told her
about the message, "Cant read disk." Her instructions didn’t do
any good. She gave up, and hung up.

Dan said, "We have an expert on computers here, Bill, my
grandson. Maybe he can help you."

Bill came over. He had me punch some keys. I saw that he

wanted to check the hard disk. When he saw the amount of free

17
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space on the disk, He said, "I never saw so much free space on a
disk. The trouble must be in the WordStar-program disks."

I called WordStar International and told them that I had
an expert on computers check the system, and he came to the con-
clusion that the WordStar disks were faulty. That’s when she said
they would send me a new set.

Of course, that was not right, as I told in previous pages,
it was because my disk drive was dirty. Subsequently I have
cleaned the drive and it works fine now. Anyway, now I have an
extra computer.
23rd

The computer came the next day after the keyboard came, I
told the driver that I expected a small package to come, and he
could leave it and any small boxes in the mailbox on the left
side of the road, the one with the door.

It was mail day, and when I went down to get it, T found the
box I expected to come by UPS'in the mail box. It was the Dis-
kette-Head-Cleaning kit.

When I got up to the dugout, I started unpacking the comput-
er. After diner I unhooked the connections from the old computer,
and set it to one side. I had already unhooked the monitor. Now I
set the monitor on top of the old computer, and hooked the appro-
priate leads to them. Then ran the cleaning disk in the drive. I

tried it out by installing an old program. When I had installed

18
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enough of the program to see that there was no trouble with the
installation, I canceled the installation.

Then I installed the WordStar 7. The installation went
through without any trouble.

When I saw that the program was all right, I brought the new
computer in and put it where the old one had been, hooked up the
leads, put the monitor on top and hooked up the leads to it. Then
installed WordStar 7. I installed the American Heritage Diction-
ary, because it was supposed to be such a wonder.

I started to record the July account. right away many of
the commands would not work. After considerable experimenting, T
began to see that the Heritage Dictionary interfered with Word-
Star.

I deleted all the files of the Heritage Dictionary. After
that with a lot of work I got the commands to do what I wanted
them to do. There is one command that doesn’t work right. That is
the command to move the curser to the right end of the line. It

moves it down several pages to the right side of the screen.
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